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NORTHERN VISION DEVELOPMENT 
LIMITED PARTNERSHIP
2018 ANNUAL REPORT TO UNITHOLDERS

We are pleased to provide you with this annual report on the activities of Northern Vision Develop-
ment Limited Partnership (“NVD” or “the Partnership”). Included herewith are financial statements as 
at and for the year ended December 31, 2018 audited by Deloitte LLP, along with comparable results 
for the previous year.  

The Partnership’s Annual General Meeting will be held at 4:30 pm (Pacific Time) on Tuesday May 28, 
2019 at the Coast High Country Inn in Whitehorse, Yukon. It will be proceeded by the annual meeting 
of shareholders of Northern Vision Development Corp (the General Partner) at 4:00 pm (Pacific Time) 
on that date at the same location. We invite all interested stakeholders to join us for the Limited Partner 
Annual General Meeting, to receive an update on the progress of the Partnership as well as informa-
tion about future plans. For our Calgary-based investors, a follow up information meeting will be held 
in Calgary, at 5:00 pm on Tuesday June 4, 2019, at the offices of Opus Corporation – Fifth Floor, 5119 
Elbow Drive SW, Calgary, Alberta. 

In September 2018 NVD received the Fitzpatrick 
Award – the highest award bestowed by Frontier 
College to an organization who has made a signifi-
cant contribution to work of the College and to the 
cause of literacy, learning and education in 
Canada.



OVERVIEW
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NVD, a private real estate partnership established in February 2004, owns, manages and devel-

ops hospitality, commercial and residential assets located in Canada’s Yukon Territory. NVD is 

managed by its general partner, Northern Vision Development Corp., a private company based 

in Whitehorse and formed under the laws of the Yukon.  The operations of the Partnership are 

overseen PARTNERSHIP by a board of directors comprised of individuals with a diverse mix” 

of skill sets, including experience in the real estate and hospitality industries. 

As at December 31, 2018, 26,317,396 units of the Partnership were outstanding (2017 – 

23,965,715 units) with no options or purchase warrants issued.  A total of 92 unitholders held 

interest in the Partnership as at December 31, 2018 (83 as at December 31, 2017). The Net Asset 

Value (“NAV”) is estimated at $2.77 per basic and fully diluted unit as at December 31, 2018 (2017 

- $2.55 basic and fully diluted per unit), based on updates that rely on the methodology and 

assumptions used in the most recent third-party valuations for NVD’s assets. This represents an 

8.6% increase for the past year. During the year distributions to unitholders of a cumulative 

$1,000,000 were declared and paid in in March (4.1 cents per unit outstanding at that time (2017 

– 11.3 cents per weighted average unit outstanding)).  The decline in distributions was related to 

redirecting funds toward development projects. 
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2018 HIGHLIGHTS
FINANCIAL RESULTS FOR 2018 WERE IN LINE WITH EXPECTATION.
FOLLOWING ARE KEY HIGHLIGHTS OF THE PARTNERSHIP’S
FINANCIAL AND OPERATIONAL ACHIEVEMENTS:

;
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  The steady trend in growth in income from sustained 
sources since the middle of the last recessionary period in 
2014 is evident in the graph above. 

This trend is expected to continue with the Hotel Division in 
particular off to a very strong start in 2019 and the Yukon 
economy continuing to cause a tightening in the commerical 
leasing market. 

GRAPHICAL HIGHLIGHTS 

     Having established a record level above $3.0 million for the first 
time in 2017 with the help of a one-time $700,000 extraordinary 
income item, the Partnersh followed up with Total Comprensive 
Income in excess of  $2.8 million in 2018. Sustained contributions 
from both the Hotel and Real Estate divisions were at record 
levels for the year.

In 2019, a significant increase is anticipated in Total Comprehen-
sive Income based on contributions from the sale of residential 
condominiums in the River’s Reach Phase II project.

The Hotel Division    
   continued to grow 

rapidly in 2018, further 
increasing its

importance to overal 
NVD LP performance 

in 2018, despite the 
fact that the Real 

Estate division also 
delivered reasonable 

levels of growth.

    While interest income increased with the additional 
of a vendor take back mortgage associated with the 
Domino’s property sale, Interest and Other did not 
show any major growth due to the fact that income 
from the Mighty Wash car wash operations were down 
during the year reflecting staffing challenges and
closures to address major maintenance requirements.

EMBARKING ON SIGNIFICANT GROWTH       109 NORTHERN VISION DEVELOPMENT LP ANNUAL REPORT 2018 



CEO’s LETTER TO UNITHOLDERS

Dear Unitholders:

I am writing to you at a very important time for your Partnership. 

Your board has approved a major expansion plan for NVD which aims to double enterprise value over 
a five-year period commencing in 2018. This will be achieved on the strength of major development 
efforts combined with continued organic growth from our operating divisions. At the same time, we 
will move through a major succession program for both board and management aimed at setting up 
the Partnership for long term success. I have been your CEO for this past decade, and I am commit-
ted to ensuring that the final bricks are laid over the next five years that will create a lasting foundation 
for success. The dedicated board of directors and the engaged management team have achieved 
tremendous growth to date; but I believe the next decade has the potential to deliver outcomes that 
will not only significantly reward our patient and supportive investors, but that also to permanently 
establish our Partnership as an important contributor to the growth of the northern Canadian 
economy. I am proud of what the Partnership has accomplished and even more energized by what 
lies ahead.

THE PAST YEAR

This past year was once again a very good year for hotel operations. For  much of the year we flirted 
with the possibility of exceeding $5.0 million Net Operating Income from the division. While we ended 
up falling just short, at over $4.9 million we were well ahead of budget, and 13% better than the 2017 
results. For the first time, the Hotel division results benefited from strong performance from all four hotels. 

Rental rates improved while vacancy levels fell in the Real Estate division. We have made major 
strides on the development of our signature state-of-the-art River’s Reach II residential condominium 
project. This $25 million project on the Yukon riverfront is the largest development undertaking in 
NVD history and we are pleased with the progress we have made to date. We will deliver this project 
later in 2019, and investors will see the impact in the yields they receive.
 
I will leave it to the other sections of this report to detail our successes and challenges over the past 
year. Here I focus on some key themes of interest to our investors as we look forward. Since 2004, 
when we formed the Partnership, a considerable amount of effort has been expended first in identify-
ing and acquiring the assets required for the establishment of operations, then in developing those 
assets in a manner that would not only build shareholder value and yield, but that would also set us 

up for strategic growth as a leading northern Canadian operator. Just a little over ten years into our 
journey, we were named best large company in the northern Territories, and we have managed to 
build a strong reputation, not only for generating both growth and returns, but also for our contribu-
tion to our community. Accordingly, you can be proud of the record of achievement of your Partner-
ship across a wide variety of measures to date. But the future is even more promising.

So where to we go from here?

We remain committed to delivering both capital appreciation and growing annual yield. In the fall of 
2018, we deferred a second potential distribution. This strategic decision allowed us to invest in our 
development projects and achieve enhanced yield over the medium term.  We are always focused on 
achieving the right balance between investor yield and strategic growth.  But while we hold firm to 
this commitment, we also want to ensure we develop your Partnership into everything it can be, 
which means we are prepared to take calculated risks aimed at significantly boosting performance. The 
coming year will see us make major progress along those lines, and we will do it in the following ways:
 

DEVELOPMENT OF ASSETS

Hotels: Our professional hotel management team has proven itself and has the capacity to support 
expanded operations. Results from this division, during the past three years in particular, demon-
strate that we have developed a real competence with respect to creating value within hotel opera-
tions. In 2013 we acquired the Edgewater Hotel in Whitehorse and the Downtown Hotel in Dawson 
City, bringing our Yukon-based hotel presence up to 273 rooms, a number that has been consistent 
since that time. 

The graph and chart on the following page provide Hotel Division results since 2014 – the first full 
year that we operated at our current total room levels. Revenues have grown at an annual rate of 
6.2% during the four years since the end of 2014 while profits have climbed at an average annual rate 
of 22.1%. During that time, overall Net Operating Income for the Division has climbed from 17.4% of 
revenues to 29.7%. Clearly the management team has been able to substantially improve the value 
of the Hotels. Based on a June 2018 valuation of our three hotels in Whitehorse by CBRE, NVD cur-
rently places a value on the division’s assets of $38.9 million. Using the same basis for analysis, the 
value of the properties in 2014 would have been $17.5 million, meaning the properties have more 
than doubled in value in the four year period – a total value growth of $21.4 million without giving con-
sideration for any Hotel Cap rate compression during that period (and there has been some in 
Canada during that time). It is clear that NVD board and management have demonstrated a signifi-
cant ability to buy underperforming hotel properties and add professional management in a manner 
that builds shareholder value. 

“Net Operating Income was just short of $5.0 million . . .”

“Our hotel properties have more than doubled in value a

four year period - a total value growth of $21.4 million . . .”
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In early 2019 we acquired a small hotel property in the Mayo district in the Yukon in partnership with 
the Na-cho Nyak Dun First Nation, which will add a small number of rooms to our portfolio. This area 
is particularly active with the activities associated with Victoria Gold’s Eagle mining project. But this 
is a very small move, made as much to confirm a working relationship with new partners, as to add 
materially to our hotel room portfolio.

The attractive hotel investment environment has not gone unnoticed. We are witness to an influx of 
new hotel interest in Yukon, and particularly in Whitehorse where one 59 room project is already 
underway and other larger projects are also being contemplated. We are confident that this favourable 
environment is sustainable. At the time of writing this report, we have entered into the final phase of 
negotiations on a 4-star property which we plan to develop on lands we own on Main Street in White-
horse. There is room in Whitehorse for additional hotel capacity, particularly at the mid and upper 
levels of the market, and NVD will ensure we are positioned to take advantage of market growth.

In 2018 I cochaired the Steering committee that put forward the strategic plans for the Yukon Tour-
ism Industry for the next decade and in March 2019 I joined a blue-ribbon task force in the Yukon 

formed to work on implementation of the key governance pillar of this strategy which seeks to double 
the contribution of tourism to the Yukon economy over the next decade. The Conference Board of 
Canada is projecting that mining activity will likely ensure that the Yukon leads Canadian regional 
GDP growth next year and further projects the Territory will remain at or near the top in terms of 
growth for the next eight years. Efforts in the tourism industry should further enhance the economic 
backdrop for the accommodations sector as capacity grows. By building on our existing strength and 
footprint in the Yukon, and by then being prepared to look beyond territorial borders, hotels will play 
a major role in our strategy to double the size of the Partnership in the next half decade. Conditions 
are right – both from an economic backdrop perspective and from an NVD readiness perspective and 
our Hotel team is anxious to show just how far we can take our well-developed expertise.

REAL ESTATE DEVELOPMENT

We have moved successfully forward on our River’s Reach Phase II project which is over half sold at 
the writing of this report. It will reach substantial completion in the second half of the year and we will 
be pleased to see the sales outcomes from this property. We anticipate the positive results will begin 
to boost yield and allow special distributions to our unitholders. But it will also drive asset apprecia-
tion as we are keeping approximately 35% of the units for rental inventory to meet the growing 
demands of the burgeoning Yukon economy. As such this $25 million development project will assist 
us meeting both of our key goals – unit yield and NAV growth. Whereas a decade ago such a project 
would have been difficult to undertake by the Partnership; today the River’s Reach II project is just 
the precursor to major projects in our development pipeline including Waterfront Station II, River’s 
Reach III and Waterfront Place Lot 10. At the same time, we will begin the development of our Whistle 

“River’s Reach Phase II project is over 50% sold . . .”

Bend project – a 5.8 acre com-
mercial parcel in the fastest growing 
residential area in Whitehorse 
that offers substantial growth 
opportunities for NVD.
 
In addition to the Whistle Bend 
Project and the Hotel develop-
ment on Main Street, NVD also 
continues to hold three addi-
tional development lots that are 
either contiguous or adjacent to 
its River’s Reach II develop-
ment. These lots are slated for 
the Waterfront Station II com-
mercial project, The River’s 
Reach III commercial/residential  
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 HOTEL DIVISION REVENUE AND PROFIT
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The first phase of the Whistle Bend development provides a range of
commercial development opportunities for the Partnership



condominium project and the development of Lot 10 which is across the road into supporting ameni-
ties for the entire development area. Once these projects are completed, which should take place 
over the next half decade, the Partnership will have completed the development of the original core 
development assets that gave rise to the creation of Northern Vision Development Limited Partnership.

NET ASSET VALUE, DISTRIBUTION AND FINANCING ACTIVITY

Major debt and equity financing will be required in 2019 to support both existing and future develop-
ment projects. The raising of equity through Private Placements and our Distribution Reinvestment 
Program (“DRP”) (which currently sees a total unit participation of 34%) as well as the issuance of 
units associated with building acquisitions has dropped the leverage of the Partnership materially, 
and this will be addressed by equity takeout mortgage financing. However existing debt and equity 
will be required to support the end of the River’s Reach II project and the future projects discussed 
earlier in this letter. Accordingly, unitholders can anticipate an increase in both debt and equity to 
accompany the overall growth strategy.

This table  provides a summary of Net Income, Taxable Income, AFFO, and Distributions for the 
Partnership since 2012. It demonstrates that Taxable Income, Distributions and AFFO are all approxi-
mately the same on a cumulative basis over that period. As the Partnership has exhausted the
positive impact available from tax shields, annual Net and Taxable Income are more closely aligned.

NET ASSET VALUE PER UNIT

The Board and Management estimated Net Asset Value (“NAV”) at $2.77 per unit on December 31, 
2018, an 8.7% increase over the $2.55 estimated NAV per unit as at December 31, 2017. NAV 
increased for several reasons including the record performance of our Hotel Division and the impact 

that had on asset values, the decrease in vacancy in our Real Estate Division, and the improvement 
in land values in Whitehorse in response to the stronger economy. It also increased by a little more 
than 4 cents a unit in association with the delayed payout of the anticipated 2018 year end distribution.

Once again, I take this opportunity to congratulate the management team and staff on the positive 
results for their efforts over the past year. There were several changes involving the board and man-
agement in 2018. At mid-year, Myron Tetreault stepped down as a board member for NVD. Myron 
was a cofounder of the Partnership and one of four key players when NVD got its start. He distin-
guished himself as a dedicated board member and served not only as an active board member but 
also as Chair of both our Audit and Governance Committees. He also played an active role in our 
financing rounds both during the early years and more recently. We thank Myron for his significant 
contributions to NVD, and note that he continues to be an active member of both the Limited Partner-
ship and the General Partnership. On the senior management team, Taylor Zeeg, VP Acquisitions and 
Development, and Jerome Casanova, Sr. Property Manager, both joined our Real Estate division and 
are already leaving their mark on our activities. Kristine Hildebrand, who had distinguished herself in 
the role of NVD corporate controller for the past half-decade, moved to become our Vice President 
of Asset Management and is making a serious contribution to the performance of our Real Estate 
Division. As always, our board offers wise counsel based on their significant experience and assists 
in developing and setting the strategic direction for the Partnership.

“Net Asset Value was estimated at $2.77 per unit
on a fully diluted basis at the end of the year . . .”

HISTORY OF INCOME, AVAILABLE FUNDS FROM OPERATIONS,
TAXABLE INCOME AND DISTRIBUTIONS

Downtown Hotel, Dawson City: NVD Board member Lori Simcox, and CEO Rich Thompson are joined by staff
and board members from Chief Isaac Inc., our partner in the Downtown, along with Downtown staff members
and participants from Amazing Race Canada, in advance of the annual Commissioner’s Ball.
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As we enter 2019, we have embarked on a program to complete additions to our management team 
that will allow for a smooth transition to future leadership for the Partnership. It is out intent to bring 
in a Chief Operating Officer who will work closely with me as activity levels pick up and as there is a 
more significant need for financing activities and business development initiatives.  We hope to have 
made our selection by mid-year and to have added this additional key player by the end of the third 
quarter. We will search locally, regionally and nationally for this individual. 

In the meantime, our focus will be on continuing to improve bottom line performance in both of our 
main operating divisions while supporting a more aggressive roster of development and acquisition 
activities. We firmly believe that these strategic moves support continued NAV per unit growth and 
material increases in yield over time.

SUMMARY

As we look to grow the Partnership at a more rapid pace, we have a lot to be thankful for. As I often 
observe, the fact that we are over 35% First Nation owned is a real advantage for the Partnership. 
leading Yukon First Nation entities – the Tr’ondëk Hwëch’in Trust, Ta’an Kwach’an Council and the 
Carcross Tagish First Nation Daanaa Jili (Cache) Trust – continue to be three of the five largest 
unitholders in the Partnership. These investors take an active interest in the activities of the Partner-
ship and either directly, or through their Development Corporations are involved in a range of activi-
ties from equity and debt financing, to joint venture operations of projects undertaken by NVD. We 
appreciate not only the level of support we receive from these First Nations, but also their long-term 
perspective and community orientation which is synergistic with our own approach to investing in 
Canada’s north.

In April we currently plan to pay a $1 million distribution representing 3.8 cents per unit. While cash-
flow is at a premium we recognize that our unitholders will have tax obligations associated with our 
taxable income from this past year and we will ensure our financing activities over 2019 are enough 
to meet the demands of our various projects. With the conclusion of the River’s Reach II project in 
the second half of 2019 we anticipate will have a source of funds that will allow us to pay both regular 
and special distributions later in the year.

Finally, I want to take this opportunity to thank our committed unitholders. I have had the good 
fortune to get to know most of you and I am gratified that many of you take the time to share your 
views or simply take an interest in the Partnership in the questions you pose at our Annual General 
Meeting or through emails or phone calls throughout the year. NVD is a special undertaking for your 
management team and it means a lot to us that so many of you show an interest that extends well 
beyond annual yield and NAV growth. Like us, we believe you should take tremendous pride in the 
Partnership and the role you have played in its success.

I hope to see some of you at our Annual General Meeting to be held at 5:30 pm (Mountain Time) 

on Tuesday May 28, 2019 at the Coast High Country Inn in Whitehorse, Yukon. 

At that meeting I will provide a further update on the progress of the Partnership in 2019 as well as 
more detailed information about our future plans. For our Calgary-based investors, a follow up infor-
mation meeting will be held in Calgary, at 5:00 pm on Tuesday June 4, 2018, at the offices of Opus 
Corporation – Fifth Floor, 490 Elbow Drive SW, Calgary, Alberta, and I hope that many of you will be 
able to attend.

Our next report will be the Semi-Annual report which will be emailed to you in August. In the mean-
time, please do not hesitate to contact me should you have any questions, or ideas for the Partnership. 

Sincerely,

Northern Vision Development LP

Richard S. Thompson
Chief Executive Officer

 

“As we look to grow the Partnership at a faster
pace, we have a lot to be thankful for ...”
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Dear Unitholders:

2018 was a busy and productive year for Northern Vision Development. The backdrop of a healthy 
regional economy experiencing substantial growth in both the mining and tourism sectors has assisted 
NVD’s own performance. NVD has, in turn, been a clear industry leader in hospitality services and real 
estate in Canada’s north and has, in the 15 years it has existed, done much to strengthen and change 
the face of the Yukon economy. It has successfully pioneered joint venture relationships with key First 
Nation Development Corporations to identify and pursue successful projects northerners from past 
generations could only dream about. It has married investors with vision from across Canada with 
those in the Yukon in a partnership that has set new standards for entrepreneurial success.

The company continues to be guided by an enthusiastic and experienced board of directors. While a 
founding board member, Myron Tetreault, resigned from the board in 2018 to pursue other activities 
he remains close to and very much interested in the company’s continued success. I would sincerely 
like to thank Myron for the clear-headed wisdom he routinely provided to board deliberations in the 
past. His legacy very much lives on in the foundations of a company he played a big part in building. 
The other board members: Ian McAuley, Hannes Kovac, Shirley Adamson, Lori Simcox and, Rob Savin 
continue to provide careful stewardship of the company.

Rich Thompson, our very able CEO, has put together an impressive team of dedicated people to 
manage and operate the company. NVD would not have such a remarkable reputation for success 
without the people who run it. There are good reasons every day to be proud of their hard work, 
inspired and thoughtful decision making and the loyalty they have to the team and the communities in 
which they live and work. Building the team is, of course, a work in progress as the company grows 
and meets new challenges. The board and senior management continue to focus on the careful strate-
gic recruitment of people to deliver on the company’s objectives.

Growing a healthy and profitable company is often best achieved by doing one’s part to nurture and 
support the health of the communities in which it operates. NVD contributes greatly to the Yukon by 
not only providing employment to hundreds of people and raising the bar on the quality of service it 
provides but also by being a strong contributor to important community organizations that, them-
selves, provide essential services. In this regard NVD continues to support such organizations as the 
Whitehorse Food Bank and, this last year, an innovative housing project for low income people. It is a 
key supporter of many worthy community initiatives that are essential to the fabric of the Yukon.
There are good reasons for the board and management to be optimistic about the company’s pros-
pects. Careful, smart decision making coupled with the loyalty and support of the Unitholders should 
ensure the company achieves significant results.

Yours Sincerely,
Northern Vision Limited Partnership

Piers McDonald, 
Chairman

LETTER FROM THE

CHAIRMAN
OF THE BOARD
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COMMENTARY: Note that in 2017 Real Estate Revenues and Margins, and 
Income from Operations include a one-time extraordinary item of $700,000 
related to the early termination of the Loblaws lease at Yukon Centre Mall. 
In 2018 the Hotel Division set record performance for revenues and mar-
gins, as did the Real Estate Division before consideration of the one-time 
item in 2017. Assets significantly increased, reflecting the investment in de-
velopment, and the River’s Reach II project in particular, and debt as a per-
centage of assets decreased due to significant equity financing over the 
past two years while debt levels remained relatively static. Looking at this 
from a compound growth standpoint: Hotel revenues over the five-year 
period are up 5.4% per annum while margins have grown at an annual rate 
of 17.0%. Real Estates revenues have grown 7.6% annually while margins 
are up at an annual rate of 10.8%.

REPORT ON OPERATIONS
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KEY OPERATING AND FINANCIAL STATISTICS  - FIVE YEAR SUMMARY



I.HOTEL DIVISION

The Downtown Hotel in Dawson, which is 50% owned by NVD, had a breakout year and delivered 
over $400,000 in Net Operating Income after posting $111,000 a year earlier. Improved management 
depth and comprehensive renovations helped drive this outcome. NVD was also assisted by a more 
active Dawson City where increased summer tourism was coupled with construction activity in the 
slow season, which combined led to the substantial gains. But while top line revenues were up over 
$400,000, an impressive 70% of that was captured at the bottom line.

Given the public nature of this document and the new interest in building hotels in Whitehorse, we 
will not get into detailed information on the performance of our individual Whitehorse hotels other 
than to observe that each had a strong year. We are being rewarded for the investment we made in 
the Edgewater Hotel renovations and are ahead of expectations for that property. We attempted to 
build an events program at the Coast High Country Inn to fill gaps in seasonal usage of our banquet 
facilities, but we will likely dial that program back somewhat in 2019. Both rooms and food and bev-
erage contributed to the record levels achieved in the past year. 

Division revenue was up 10.2% while margins improved by 12.7% over the results posted in 2017. 
The first full year of operations of the Edgewater Hotel post renovation produced outcomes that were 
a year ahead of schedule. As has been too frequently the case, Food and Beverage results at the 
Coast High Country Inn were variable, and while the events program delivered topline growth it was 
not captured at the bottom line. The Best Western Gold Rush Inn continued to deliver solid returns, 
as it has done over much of the last decade. With all three Whitehorse properties delivering expected 
results, or better, and the Downtown Hotel in Dawson having a break out year, we almost exceeded 
our stretch goal of $5.0 million Net Operating Income. Results in the first quarter of 2019 are a good 
indication that that target will be well exceeded in the current year.
  

A major renovation program is underway at the Coast High Country Inn aimed at significantly 
improving the room experience in advance of new built competition coming into the marketplace. At 
the writing of this report more than one third of that program has been completed. The Partnership 
is about to embark on a multiyear Best Western mandated upgrade program at the Best Western 
Gold Rush Inn. This program will see substantial guest room upgrades along with improved sound-
proofing in the facility. Both hotels will receive improved air handling and air conditioning as a result 
of these programs. We are confident that both facilities will be ready to compete with new built 
product when the time comes. In the meantime, guests will begin to see improvements to the 
already industry leading services delivered by NVD Hotels. 

HOTEL DIVISION SUMMARY AND OUTLOOK: 

As noted in earlier reports, up until recently the Division has been reliant on the Best Western Gold 
Rush Inn to drive top and bottom-line growth. However, with the Coast High Country Inn achieving 
a step change in outcomes in 2017 which were maintained in 2018, and with the Edgewater and 
Downtown Hotels now meeting or exceeding expectations, portfolio growth is now driven by all four 
properties. The chart opposite reflects the revenues contributed by each of the hotels and includes 
the Downtown Hotel at 100%. 

OF $4.9 MILLION IN NET OPERATING INCOME IN 2018. IMPORTANTLY ALL FOUR   
THE HOTEL DIVISION EXCEEDED AGGRESSIVE TARGETS AND DELIVERED IN EXCESS

PROPERTIES DELIVERED EITHER ACCEPTABLE OR OUTSTANDING RESULTS.

“The Downtown Hotel delivered over $400,000 in Net
Operating Income, up from $111,000 the previous year...”

“Hotels Division revenue was up 10.2% and margins
 improved 12.7% as once again records were set...”

The Net Operating Income chart 
provides the four-hotel comparison 

for margin contribution. While this 
measure is still skewed in favour of 

the Best Western Gold Rush Inn, 
the other Hotels are now making a 

meaningful contribution which is 
assisting in driving substantial 

bottom line growth. We expect the 
other three properties to continue 
to grow in importance in this area  

in 2019 and beyond.
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In early 2019 NVD entered into a 50% Partnership to acquire the 12-room Bedrock Hotel in Mayo. 
While this is a small property, it comes with a substantial land acquisition that will allow expansion of 
the services provided which currently include Recreational Vehicle pads and propane services. The 
Mayo area has seen a substantial increase in activity associated with the Victoria Gold’s Eagle Gold 
project which saw substantial construction over the past year, and which will move to operating 
status in 2019. In addition, the property provides NVD with an infill hotel property for tourists located 
between its current locations in Whitehorse and Dawson. The hotel management team will begin to 
improve the quality of this property along with the revenue and bottom-line outcomes it generates 
through a management contract which will commence in 2019.

II. REAL ESTATE DIVISION

The goal of achieving below 5% vacancy in the lease portfolio remained elusive in 2018, however the 
Partnership has now almost achieved that objective. During 2018 additions were made to the overall 
size of the portfolio through the acquisition of the Many River’s building on Fourth Avenue in White-
horse, which added 5,000 leasable square feet, and through the expansion of space into the 
common area of NVD Place to accommodate premises of over 4,000 sf for the Arctic Winter Games. 
We also followed up the conversion of our old Hotel office space into a Spa at the Best Western Gold 
Rush Inn, with further redevelopment in 2018 that added Gold Rush Inn based office space to our 
lease portfolio. At the writing of this report NVD now has 182,666 square feet available for lease, most 
of which is commercial space. This figure will increase later in 2019 with the addition of a rental port-
folio in the new River’s Reach II residential condominium development.

A stronger economic backdrop has led to some success in both leasing and property sales. But 
although the Partnership is now realizing higher rates on renewal, and has filled some vacant space, 
the progress has been slower than anticipated. Management, led by our new Senior Property Man-
ager Jerome Casanova, is particularly focused on finally completing the lease out of NVD Place, 
where the lease signed by Artic Winter Games in 2018 has been very helpful, and Waterfront station 
where one third floor unit has proven difficult to lease since the building was delivered back in 2012. 
NVD will be creative in finding a solution for this space in 2019.

From a leasing perspective, the Partnership entered into new leases that allowed it to eliminate 
vacancies completely in its Yukon Centre Mall and Titanium Way 166 buildings (the latter of which 
NVD has a net 49% interest) and to make further progress at both Waterfront Station and NVD Place.
With both of its retail tenants requiring room for expansion within the Best Western Gold Rush Inn 

  

premises, NVD was motivated to purchase the Main Steele building where NVD was able to consoli-
date its head office and hotel offices by vacating hotel offices in the Gold Rush and making them 
available for the spa expansion. 

There were a few major successes in 2019. The first and most obvious is the completion of the old 
SuperValu space at Yukon Centre Mall into the Northlight Innovation Centre. This involved utilizing 
the proceeds of the one-time lease termination payment received from Loblaws, to allow them to exit 
from a space that had paid for, but kept dark for more than seven years. In order to improve the 
vibrancy of this mall, and to stimulate a refresh of the entire property NVD joined with the Federal 
Government, through CanNor, and the Yukon

Territorial Government to completely rethink this space into a vibrant Innovation Centre for Yukon 
entrepreneurs. Starting with 20,400 square feet of “grocery store space” (now over 23,000 with the 
addition of a mezzanine) this space was completely renovated to become home to a Co-space work 
environment, a maker-space called Yukonstruct, Yukon College (giving it a downtown presence), the 
Cold Climate Innovation Centre and the Yukon Development Corporation. The project has been 
incredibly well received and is already operating at capacity. We take our hat off in particular to 
Yukonstruct and the Yukon Territorial Government in respect to their vision for this project, as well 
as to CanNor for the provision of significant Federal Government support for the project.

Another success involved leasing activities at the Selkirk JV property located at Titanium Way 166 
and the related Titanium Way JV Properties (“TWJV”) joint venture at Titanium Way 170. In 2018 NVD 
completed a multiyear effort to sell off all the commercial condominiums owned in the TWJV located 
at 170 Titanium Way. With the sale of the final condominium it made sense to wind up the TWJV as 
at that point in time it held only cash, a VTB and its interest in the Selkirk JV property. NVD accepted 
a distribution of cash and the 49% interest in the Selkirk JV and our partners, the Vuntut Gwitchin 
Limited Partnership accepted cash and the VTB. As a result, NVD recognized gains in 2018 of 
$74,000 and increased its indirect interest of net 32.5% in the Selkirk JV to a direct interest of 49%. 

“There were some major successes in 2019...
 one being the Northlight Innovation Centre...”

The new
facing of the

Northlight
Innovation Centre at 

Yukon Centre Mall
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At the same time NVD, as property manager for the Selkirk JV has been able to release space in that  
building from below market rates (entered into during the recessionary period) to full market rates. In 
the chart below readers will see an increase in the net leasable square footage in this building (due 
to our increased interest) and a decrease in the vacancy (due to our leading success). 

While vacancy has been reduced to close to the 5% maximum target levels, management will con-
tinue to focus on absorbing the balance of the vacancy and ensuring that the entire portfolio is 
moving toward full market rates.
 
Beyond the need to fill the remaining vacancies, NVD’s commercial portfolio continues to be 
exposed to risk associate with rental to restaurant operations. Despite some closures, Whitehorse 
continues to have the highest square footage of restaurant space per capita of any city in Canada. It 
was hoped that the as the Yukon climbed out of recession, that restaurants would once again start 
fully performing. With the closure of the Wheelhouse at the beginning of this past year, and continu-
ing challenges for other restaurants in NVD’s portfolio, management continues to be wary of this 
usage and is disinclined to use any new or existing office and retail space for this purpose. However, 
when restaurant space is vacated, the initial focus is on trying to find viable restaurant tenants as 
replacements. Recently the government announced plans for significant increases in minimum wage 
commencing this coming April. Although NVD and others advocated for consideration of a special 
reduction in wages paid to liquor servers (as is in place in other Canadian jurisdictions) in recognition 
of the fact that a significant portion of their income is tip-based, the government did not introduce 
such a reduction with the first phase of increases (there are likely to be three). NVD is hopeful this will 
be given consideration soon, in advance of any further increases, as already one restaurant in White-
horse has announced plans to close since the announcement of the minimum wage rate hike. The 
combination of the over-abundance of restaurants and the cost creep associated with the minimum 
wage hikes poses addition risk associate with this usage type in our Real Estate portfolio.

OPERATING AND OTHER ACTIVITIES

The Mighty Wash Car Wash had a disappointing year due to several factors. Throughout much of the 
year the operation was plagued by staffing challenges and it was difficult to keep a full complement 
of staff. This led to some unexpected closures. We also closed the operation for a number of planned 
maintenance and renovation programs as some equipment required replacement or upgrade, or 
modification to support more efficient operations. Both issues are no longer an impact and 2019 is 
expected to deliver at or above historical levels. 

NVD is offering third party property management services to commercial tenants, but there has yet 
to be significant take up on this offering and this area is not yet making a material contribution to 
financial performance.

Interest income related to the loan portfolio increased during the past year. While we are reluctant to 
use Vendor Take Back financing in order to support sales activity, there are occasions where it 
makes sense to do so. The sale of the Domino’s property in 2018 was one such instance, where the 
existence of competing offers and our need to accept one meant that it was prudent to eliminate a 
financing condition through the provision of a vendor financed mortgage. Accordingly, $450,000 was 
advanced associated with that sale. NVD also provided a $189,000 loan to an associated Joint 
Venture – the Downtown Dawson Limited Partnership – in order to finance a staff housing acquisition.

NVD LP LEASE PORTFOLIO

The chart summarizes vacancy levels at the writing of this report. Compared to data presented in the 2017 

Annual Report, total leasable square footage has increased by 2.8% from 173,253 sf to 178,095 sf. 

The increase is the result of: (a) a 942 sf increase at NVD Place related to reclaiming some common area space 

(b) an increase of 1,242 sf due to an increase in the net ownership of TW166; (c) the purchase of a house for 

staff and contractor rental; and (d) the expansion of 297 sf of commercial space at the Best Western Gold 

Rush Inn. The growth is offset by a reduction of 1,342 at Waterfront Station through the sale of a Condo, and 

2,209 sf of building space as a result of the sale of the Domino’s Pizza building and lands at Nugget Beach. 

Overall, the vacancy rate dropped from 8.9% reported in the last annual report to 5.6% as reported this year.
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The acquisition of this housing allowed the Partnership to attract the level of staff needed to boost 
performance of that asset, and the results in 2018 are obvious. At the same time, our Joint Venture 
partner and major investor, the Tr’ondëk Hwëch’in Trust, carries the mortgage on our Dawson Hotel 
property and so it was important for NVD to do its share. Combined, along with some passive income 
earned on money raised and not immediately deployed for the River’s Reach II development project, 
these moves saw the NVD loan portfolio increase during the year, resulting in a 44% year over year 
increase in income earned during the year.

DEVELOPMENT ACTIVITIES

RIVER’S REACH PHASE II: Strong progress has been made on our River’s Reach Phase II project. 
There are a total of 44 units to be sold: 27 as owner occupied condos, seven as “flex rental” units in 
a rental portfolio managed by NVD but owned by others, and 10 in a portfolio for rental owned and 
managed by NVD. At time of wring, 70% of the owner-occupied units have been sold, and good 
headway is being made on both the flex rental units and the leasing of the remaining ten units In early 
March, management launched the leasing program, which is attracting daily inquiries for the NVD 
Sales team. Project leaders anticipate being 90% pre-sold/pre-leased by June which is in advance 
of expected substantial completion dates for both Phases.

The River’s Reach II project was designed by Calgary-based Abugov Kaspar and is being construc-
tion by Johnson Builders Ltd. According to reports from sub-trades, buyers and other stakeholders, 
the quality of construction is unparalleled in the market. Currently River’s Reach II remains ahead of 
schedule and on-budget. 

For this project, the Partnership has been assisted by at $500,000 grant from Yukon Housing and a 
$500,000 property tax deferral from the City of Whitehorse which is repayable to the developer. 
Overall the project is worth approximately $25 million making it the largest project ever undertaken 
by NVD.

Once this project is completed, the Partnership will move to develop the remaining Waterfront Place 
lands which are currently earmarked for a second commercial building to compliment Waterfront 
Station (completed by NVD in 2012) and a mixed-use commercial /residential condominium com-
plex – River’s Reach III. Finally, the 16,000-sf lot across Waterfront Place road will be developed to 
complete the project.

WHISTLE BEND: The Partnership has also started design consultations that are required to 
advance its 2.3-hectare commercial project in Whistle Bend (see conceptual diagram in Letter from 
CEO). This major commercial project will involve multi-phased development activities over at least 
a five-year period, likely longer. Whistle Bend will ultimately be home to 8,000 Whitehorse Residents 
as well as a Senior’s facility, affordable housing, school projects and various commercial lots. The 
NVD parcel, strategically located at the entrance to the overall development, is ideally positioned to 
provide the service hub for what will be Whitehorse’s largest residential area.  

One of the two buildings at River’s Reach II is pictured here. The larger

format condos are being extremely well received. 

The NVD

commercial

property, marked

by the star, is at

the entrance to the 

Whistle Bend

development that will 

ultimately house 

8,000 Whitehorse 

residents
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FINANCING ACTIVITIES

In summer 2018 NVD completed a $7 million financing that provided up to $2 million in liquidity for 
unitholders. Just under $1.9 million in units elected the option to be repurchased and as a result $5.1 
million was taken into treasury. These funds have subsequently been deployed to support the River’s 
Reach II project, coupled with an $8 million loan facility arranged with BDC. Further financing will be 
required to complete the River’s Reach II project and the other projects on the waterfront lands, as 
well as to support new development of a four-star hotel property on Main Street in Whitehorse and 
the initial phases of the Whistle Ben development. 

The net $5.1 million in private placement financing (2,108,844 units), coupled with the issuance of 
144,206 units for 30% of the purchase of the Many River’s building and the issuance 98,631 units 
through the Distribution Reinvestment Program in April 2018, mean that there are now 26,317,396 
units of the Partnership outstanding. This represents a 9.8% increase over the 23,965,715 units out-
standing at the beginning of the year. With NAV per unit estimated at $2.77, this places an overall 
equity value of $73 million on the partnership and a market enterprise value of over $106.5 million – 
allowing us to report in excess of $100 million for this value for the first time. 

In 2019 we will be putting in place additional equity and debt financing to assist with the growth of 
the Partnership and we will be communicating opportunities to our unitholders shortly in this regard. 

ECONOMIC COMMENTARY 

  

stood well above the $76,372 number for Canadian families.  So the underlying indicators continue 
to be quite strong. 

In the most recent Conference Board of Canada assesemet there are some notworthy observations 
on the future Yukon economoy including:

age of 13.3% annually from 2018-30
4% for the next decade.

%

In terms of the impact on NVD there are a number of things that management and board look to keep 
an eye on.

From a tourism perspective the key factors are the  exchange rate and the investment in destina-
tion marketing by the Territorial Government. On both fronts the news is good. A low Canadian dollar 
value relative to its  counterpart continues to support strong tourism demand in Yukon. This is 
part of the reason for the strong revenue and occupancy numbers in the Hotel Division. And on the 
investment front, the Yukon Territorial Government (“YTG”) has shown its intention to invest. NVD 

 Rich Thompson was asked to co-chair a Tourism Steering Committee during 2018 aimed at 
identifying key priorities for the Yukon tourism industry over the next decade. The Steering Commit-
tee released its report in late 2018 and YTG announced an incremental $875,000 in funding for these 
key initiatives in 2019. With this additional support the chances for continued development of a 
robust tourism industry that play a meaningful role in Yukon GDP are robust. 

Of course the most important segments of the Yukon economy are the government and mining. In 
March the Yukon Territorial Government announced record budget spending of over $1.5 billion for 
the coming year. This adds to the infrastructure dollars that have been earmarked for road develop-
ment, fibre optic internet services, and airport and other infrastructure development. The Dawson 
City airport is slated to be paved in May 2019 which will support our Dawson assets and other impor-
tant initiatives are underway. At the same time the Conference Board of Canada has projected that 
the Yukon will be at or near the top in terms of annual GDP growth in Canada throughout the next 
decade on the strength of the mining production that is expected to come on line. During the past 
year major progress has been made on the construction of Victoria Gold’s  Mine Project which 
is slated to commence gold production in 2019. NVD will benefit from this new mine, and will do so 
even more so now that it has made a joint investment with Na-cho Nyak Dunn in the Mayo area with 
the acquisition of the Bedrock Hotel and surrounding lands.

OUTLOOK

NVD is through its initial acquisition and development phase and a period of improving its operational 
depth to ensure that sustained yield has been developed for unitholders that is derived from ongoing 
business operations. The management team continues to develop its competence and is now deep 
enough to tackle much larger projects. Our patient investors have shown a strong propensity to sup-
port the Partnership and our close ties with several the Yukon’s leading First Nations provides the 
Partnership with a considerable sustainable advantage.

In last year’s annual report, it was noted that 2018 would be a transition year, as the Partnership 
invested significantly in development projects would not begin to produce financial results until 2019. 
That is exactly what transpired and NVD is now poised to reap the benefits from the investment over 
the past year and even the previous decade. The result will be strong NAV growth, a step change in 
yield, and the leveraging of a reputation, balance sheet and board and management team that has 
been painstakingly built over a long period of time. It is an exciting time for the Partnership. 

For NVD the future is now, and 2019 will be the most important chapter yet in the existence of the 
Partnership. If all goes according to plan, the Partnership will enter the 2020 decade as a major force, 
well on its way to the currently planned $200 million enterprise value, and will have made, and will be 
continuing to make a lasting impact on the northern Canadian landscape. 
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In Fall 2018 the Yukon Territorial Govern-
ment released its Performance Plan which 
provides some commentary on expeca-
tions and indicators for the Territory. 
Among indicators they observed that 
single family homes were selling at an 
average of $496,500, an amount that has 
subsequently climbed above $500,000. 
Median rents stood at $1,000 oer month 
and the vacancy rate for housing was at  
3% national average at the time. In Yukon, 
the after tax median family income $94,853    



MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF THE FINANCIAL RESULTS
 

The financial statements of Northern Vision Development Limited Partnership, which are audited by Deloitte 

LLP as at and for the period ended December 31, 2018, are included with this annual report. This summary 

should be read in conjunction with the financial statements and related notes thereto.

 

STATEMENTS PREPARED UNDER ASPE

The Partnership’s financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2018 continue to utilize the Account-

ing Standards for Private Enterprise (“ASPE”) which was adopted for the first time by the Partnership in 2011. 

The Partnership can move to the IFRS framework at a time of its choosing, should it believe there is merit in 

such a change in accounting standards.

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

LONG TERM DEBT:
 

At December 31, 2018 long term debt was $33,098,542, representing an increase of $868,497 or 2.7% during 

the year (2017 - $32,230,045). A total of $3,488,668 was advanced during the year which included the advance 

from two new facilities; one secured by a mortgage on the Main Steele building for $2.3 million and the other 

secured by a mortgage on the Many Rivers property for $750,000. In addition, a refinancing on the Spook Creek 

property resulted in the advance of $222,900 in new debt. The balance of the change is related to capitalized 

interest on the Whistle Bend loan of $68,767 and the realignment of the Selkirk JV at year which saw the LP’s 

liability of the JV’s debt increase by $147,001 to reflect its 49% interest (2017 – net 32.7%). The new advances 

and other increases in long term debt were offset by principal payments of $2,551,703 during the year.

NVD made regular principal payments of $1,987,779 in 2018 (2017 - $1,794,260) with additional payments of 

$563,924 related to one-time repayments related to the disposition of properties that were securing the debt.

WEIGHTED AVERAGE COST OF DEBT: 

At December 31, 2018, the weighted average cost of long-term debt increased to 4.54% (December 31, 2017 

– 4.29%). A combination of factors is involved including increases in variable interest rates during the year and 

higher cost of new debt due to higher prime rates at time of debt acquisition versus recent history. 

NVD’s debt includes 74% fixed rate and 26% variable rate loans at December 31, 2018 (December 31, 2017 

- 79% fixed and 21% variable). Fixed rate debt had an average cost of 4.33% (December 31, 2017 - 4.20%). 

Variable rate debt was at 5.14% as at December 31, 2017 (December 31, 2016 – 4.62%).

Total debt to equity ratio was 0.86:1 (December 31, 2017 - 1.04:1). The significant decrease in this ratio is the 

result of an increase in unitholder equity through the activities set out below which was significantly larger than 

the net increases in long term debt.

Currently, the Partnership is exposed to interest rate risk with each 1% rise in its variable interest rates respon-

sible for an annual increase of $87,983 (December 31, 2017 - $64,995) in interest expense.

EQUITY FUNDRAISING: 

The Partnership acquired additional equity in the year through a private placement completed in July 2018 

involving the issuance of 2,889,654 units at $2.4225 per unit for gross proceeds of $7,001,867 and through the 

purchase of a building involving the issuance of 144,206 units at $2.33 per unit for gross proceeds of $336,000 

for partial consideration.  A further 98,631 units were issued at $2.4225 for total proceeds of $237,873 were 

issued to existing unitholders as part of the distribution reinvestment plan (DRP) offered by the partnership. 

In association with the Private Placement, the Partnership redeemed 780,810 units at $2.4225 per unit at a 

cost of $1,891,512.  The net result of the foregoing transactions resulted in 26,317,396 units outstanding as at 

December 31, 2018, representing a 9.8% or 2,351,681 increase from the previous year. (In 2017 the Partner-

ship issued 2,526,111 units and redeemed 1,174,599 units at $2.10 as part of a private placement resulting in 

net proceeds of $2,757,565. During that year 1,200,811 units were issued at $2.25 and $2.33 per unit as partial 

consideration of building purchase, and $160,344 units were issued through a Distribution Reinvestment 

program at $2.33 per unit).

RETENTION AWARDS 

As at December 31, 2018 a total of 81,675 retention awards with a value of approximately $218,073 were 

granted to directors who have elected to take the units in lieu of cash. (December 31, 2017 – 84,396 and 

$206,778). During the year 38,174 units were redeemed for consideration of $95,164 (2017 – 5,003 and 

$12,258).

Senior employees, by the same program, are entitled to receive units over a three-year vesting period through 

retention grants and bonus consideration. During the year 24,445 units were redeemed for $59,206 (2017 – 

17,858 for $66,079). An expense of $132,600 was recorded for units that vested in the year (2017 - $105,962).  

At year end, there were 96,097 units due to senior employees with an estimated value of $256,579 (December 

31, 2017 – 41,264 and $101,096). A liability of $302,222 (2017 - $302,222) has been accrued for vested reten-

tion awards not redeemed.

WORKING CAPITAL

Accounts receivable Accounts receivable decreased to $1,356,846 from $1,802,700 at the end of 2017. The 

decrease of $445,854 stems from the one-time lease termination payment of $700,000 included in the receiv-

ables at the end of 2017. Adjusted for this item, Accounts receivable were up year over year. While operating 

activity levels were consistent with the previous year, the December 31, 2018 receivable balances included one 

unusual item: $198,470 due from the dissolution of the Titanium Way Joint Venture and received early in 2019.

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities totaled $2,508,843 at year end (December 31, 2017 - $1,588,281). 

Allowing for the $1,031,275 owed for the construction at Rivers Reach 2 the remaining balance is consistent 

with previous years. 

Loans Receivable increased by $365,049 during 2018 to $1,303,811 (December 31, 2017 - $938,762), follow-

ing a reduction of $39,022 in 2017.  The increase stemmed from two new advances; one of $450,000 where 
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“ Revenues increased by 7.1% to $20.2 million ...”
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the partnership took a mortgage as partial consideration for the sale of its Domino’s building on Second Avenue 
in Whitehorse, and the issuance of a $189,000 mortgage that allowed the Downtown Hotel Partnership (which 
is 50% owned by NVD) to acquire staff housing for its Dawson operations. All loans were current at year end. 

DEVELOPMENT ACTIVITIES

Property under development balances increased to $12.72 million at December 31, 2018 (December 31, 2017 
- $4.67 million) driven by investment in the construction of the Rivers Reach II residential condominium project 
which had incurred construction costs of $8,335,162 at year end. The balances were also increased by capi-
talized property taxes on development properties of $35,970 (2017 - $34,457) and capitalized interest on the 
Whistle Bend lot of $68,767 during 2018 (2017 - $79,366).

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES ON PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

The Partnership invested $4.94 million in property and improvements in the year (2017 - $7.62 million).  A total 
of $1.13 million was related to regular hotel improvements (2017 - $882,000); $3.23 million was invested in 
commercial properties, with $777,876 expended on the Yukon Centre Mall in a combination of external 
upgrades and tenant improvements to support leasing activities, $471,940 was spent at NVD Place on lease-
hold improvements and $191,063 in expenditures were incurred to fund improvements in the balance of the 
property portfolio. A total of $181,696 was incurred in developing the sales office at Waterfront Station which 
is to be utilized for River’s Reach II and follow on projects. Acquisitions included an investment of $1.14 million 
in cash and equity to acquire the Many Rivers building, $470,340 to acquire a residential property for staff and 
contractor housing. 

Associated with the sale of its final condominium in the Titanium Way 170 project held by the Titanium Way 
Joint Venture (“TWJV”), the Partnership wound up the TWJV and increased its indirect 32.5% interest to a 
direct 49% interest in the Selkirk Joint Venture. Associated with this transaction, the Partnership recorded a 
$416,031 increase to its carrying value of its interest in the property at 166 Titanium Way.

$156,450 was spent on corporate assets (2017 - $70,066), the increase being due to an acquisition of 2 new 
property management vehicles ($53,476) and equipment ($23,203) assets related to the new sales centre 
($29,336) and the balance being incurred for office equipment ($39,335) and furniture for staff housing $16,544).

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

REVENUES: 

Revenues increased by 7.1% to $20.2 million in 2018 (2017 – $18.9 million). This increase was driven by 
improvements in both Hotel and Rental division revenues.

Hotel revenues were up 10.2% to $16.6 million (2017 - $15.0 million). Rental Revenues were up 13.5% to $3.3 
million (2017 - $2.8 million). During 2018 $333,853 in revenues (2017 - $361,152) were recorded from the 
operations of Mighty Wash car wash with the reduction due to maintenance shutdowns and staffing chal-
lenges. As the sale of Titanium Way lots was completed in 2017 there were no revenues derived from that 
source in 2018 (2017 - $581,166).

GROSS PROFIT AND DIRECT EXPENSES: 

Direct Expenses were up by 7.0% to $12.7 million (2017 - $11.9 million). Expenses in the Hotel Division were 
up 9.2% to $11.7 million in line with the increase in division revenues which increased at a faster pace. Rental 
costs were up by 49.3% to $235,000 reflecting the fact that many of the new leases are gross leases and/or 
include inducements. This increase was smaller than the $383,513 increase in rental revenues. Other costs, 
associated with Mighty Wash operations and property management services, were constant year over year at 
$320,865 (2017 – $321,923).

With combined Hotel and Rental Division revenues increasing at a faster pace than costs, Gross Profit 
improved 7.2% to $7.56 million which was 37.3% of revenue (2017 - $7.05 million and 37.3%).

EXPENSES: 

Amortization expense increased by 17.3% to $2.3 million in 2018 (2017 - $2.0 million) reflecting both the full 
year impact on the Edgewater renovation and the Main Steele building acquisition. Combined with the impact 
of normal renovation and tenant fit up activities, the increase in assets occurred at a pace that more than offset 
the natural declining capital balances in the portfolio that would otherwise lead to a decline in amortization.

Interest expense increased by 8.4% to $1.38 million (2017 - $1.28 million). Several factors combine to create 
this outcome. Overall debt levels increased during the year. In addition, interest rates on variable rate loans 
have been on the rise for the past two years driving increased costs on the Partnership’s variable loans. 
Finally, a move in mid-year 2017 to a fixed rate skew contributes to the full year costs in 2018 being higher 
year over year. However, given that Partnership’s variable rate portfolio now carries a higher rate than its fixed 
rate loans, this move is already having a positive impact on interest rate expenses on an annual basis and will 
continue to do so. 

Wages expense represents staff not directly working in operational areas of the Partnership. The $1.14 million 
expense incurred in 2018 (2017 - $1.06 million) increased by 7.6% from the previous year due to the addition 
of new roles in partnership related to property management and development along with regular salary 
increases for existing employees, offset by the capitalization of a portion of salaries related to development 
activities.  Management bonuses of $99,000 associated with achievement of certain pre-defined performance 
objectives (2017 - $81,833) were paid. $171,111 (2017 - $60,000) in salaries were capitalized against the 
Rivers Reach II project.

Governance costs decreased by 32.7% or $65,217 to $134,028 for the year (2017 - $199,245). $49,701 of this 
decrease was due to the performance-based bonuses paid in 2017 (2018 - $nil). The board reduced in size 
from seven directors to six half way through the year, which reduced the overall base cost. Finally, board travel 
and facilitation costs were down year over year.

The Partnership’s office expenses increased 16.6% to $164,024 (2017 - $140,717) primarily driven by the first 
full year of occupancy at expanded premises at the Main Steele office required to accommodate staff growth, 
as well as increased telecommunications expenses and other related expenses.  
 



“Governance costs decreased by 32.7% ...”

The Partnership’s office expenses increased 16.6% to $164,024 (2017 - $140,717) primarily driven by the first 
full year of occupancy at expanded premises at the Main Steele office required to accommodate staff growth, 
as well as increased telecommunications expenses and other related expenses.  

Marketing expenses were up by 13.0% to $66,426 in 2018 (2017 -$58,807). Most of the increase is related 
activities associated with acquisition of new leases. Marketing expenses associated with the Rivers Reach II 
project of $44,565 were capitalized (2017 - $nil). 

Bad debt expenses (recoveries) A recovery of $28,287 in 2018 contrasted to a provision of $55,916 for bad 
debt expense in 2017. This recovery related to a sale of assets seized from a former tenant in associating with 
outstanding obligations for which a provision had been previously set up. 

Professional fees increased by 5.3% to $57,889 in 2018 (2017 - $54,953) reflecting nominal increases in both 
legal and accounting fees.

Travel costs are primarily associated with the regular charges to fly the CEO from Calgary to Whitehorse to 
maintain a strong presence in the local market. The increase of 16.7% to $38,771 (2017– 33,210) reflected an 
increase of the frequency of trips in 2018 picked up, particularly associated with support of development 
activities.
 
Due to all the factors noted above, expenses increased by 8.6% to $5.26 million (2017 - $4.85 million). 

INCOME FROM OPERATIONS:  

Income from operations improved by $87,209 or 4% to $2.3 million (2017 - $2.2 million). This is the result of 
all the variances described in the foregoing analysis. 

SALES ACTIVITIES AND INTEREST INCOME AND EXTRAORDINARY ITEM

INTEREST INCOME: 

The Partnership has entered into loans involving Vendor Take Back financing on Titanium Way lot sales, tenant 
fit up (particularly for the Waterfront Station and NVD Place projects) and with partners with whom NVD oper-
ates Joint Ventures. These loans are at interest rates that are higher than the Partnership’s weighted average 
borrowing costs. For the past five years, the Partnership has generally sought to reduce the size of this portfo-
lio, leading to reductions in the income earned. However, in 2018 the Partnership strategically invested in a 
mortgage financing associated with the sale of one of its properties and provided a mortgage to a joint venture 
in which is involved in to acquire staff housing. Accordingly, interest income increased by 44% during the year 
to $104,906 (2017 - $72,806).  
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Gains on sales improved to $413,456 in 2018 (2017 - $157,782). Gains were derived from the sale of a com-
mercial condominium unit at Waterfront Station, the Domino’s building on Second Avenue in Whitehorse and 
the Partnership’s interest in the sale of the last commercial condo unit in the Titanium Way Joint Venture at 
Titanium Way 170. In 2017 the sales involved two River’s Reach residential condominiums and a joint venture 
interest in one commercial condominium in Titanium Way 170.

EXTRAORDINARY ITEM:

In 2017 the Partnership negotiated an early lease termination relating to a lease for 20,400 square feet in 
Yukon Centre Mall with over three years remaining in the lease. This termination payment led to the recogni-
tion of $700.000 in income in 2017. There were no extraordinary items in the current year. 

NET INCOME: 

In 2018 Net Income decreased by 10.4% to $2.81 million (2017 - $3.14 million).  This resulted from the combi-
nation of all the foregoing items discussed. 

LIQUIDITY

The Partnership provided unitholders the opportunity for liquidity by taking advantage of demand to purchase 
units in the July 2018 Private Placement that exceeded the Partnership’s need for new equity at that time. A 
total of five unitholders elected to fully exit the Partnership while eleven existing unitholders and four new 
unitholders subscribed to the Private Placement. The General Partner, which held 1,504,833 units at the start 
of the year, redeemed 170,000 units and distributed in order to deal with tax consequences associated with 
plans to dividend units to its shareholders, and provided a dividend of a further 582,438 units to its shareholders 
of which 10 were not previously unitholders of the Partnership. Most were already associated as unitholders 
of the Limited Partnership through existing or past involvement in other corporate entities. As a result, the 
General Partner held 752,445 units of the Partnership at year end.

There are now a total of 97 unitholders in the Partnership represented by 77 unique unitholders, with some 
unitholders holding units through a number of entities that they control. As a result of the Private Placement, the 
associated liquidity opportunity, the units issued in the Many Rivers acquisition, and the units issued in the DRP, 
the partnership ended the year with 26,317,396 units outstanding (2017 – 23,965,715) which is an 8.7% increase.



OBJECTIVE: Meet or exceed a year end NAV per unit value of $2.70. 
RESULT: This objective was met as year end NAV was $2.77 per unit. The deferral of the late year 
distribution noted above added approximately 4 cents per unit to year end NAV, so even adjusted for 
this decision the objective was exceeded.

    ment objectives.

 

OBJECTIVE

RESULT

OBJECTIVE
RESULT
expected levels. 

OBJECTIVE
action. 
RESULT

OBJECTIVE
RESULT
division. 

OBJECTIVE
RESULT:

OBJECTIVE
RESULT

OBJECTIVE: Maintain or improve per unit distributions.
RESULT: This objective was not achieved. A decision late in the year to defer the distributions in 

have resulted in a decline in distributions.

THE FOLLOWING OBJECTIVES HAVE BEEN ESTABLISHED FOR 2019
BY THE PARTNERSHIP:

REVIEW OF THE PARTNERSHIP OBJECTIVES

IN THE 2017 ANNUAL REPORT TO UNITHOLDERS, MANAGEMENT SET OUT CERTAIN 
OBJECTIVES FOR THE YEAR. FOLLOWING IS A LIST OF THOSE OBJECTIVES ALONG 
WITH COMMENTARY ON THE PARTNERSHIP’S PROGRESS:
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Piers McDonald, 

Chairman of the Board of Directors, 

Acting Audit Committee Chair
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The accompanying financial statements of the Northern Vision Development Limited Partnership and 

all the information in this annual report are the responsibility of management and have been approved 

by the Board of Directors.

 

These financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with Canadian 

accounting standards for private enterprises.  Financial statements are not precise since they include 

certain amounts based on estimates and judgments.  When alternative accounting methods exist, 

management has chosen those it deems most appropriate in the circumstances, in order to ensure that 

the financial statements are presented fairly, in all material respects.  

The Partnership maintains systems of internal accounting and administrative controls of quality that are 

consistent with reasonable cost.  Such systems are designed to provide reasonable assurance that the 

financial information is relevant, reliable and accurate and the Partnership's assets are appropriately 

accounted for and adequately safeguarded.

The Partnership's management is responsible for ensuring that the Partnership fulfills its responsibilities 

for financial reporting and is ultimately responsible for reviewing and approving the financial statements.

The Board of Directors review the Partnership's financial statements and recommend their approval.  

The Board of Directors meet periodically with management, as well as the external accountants, to 

discuss internal controls over the financial reporting issues, to satisfy themselves that each party is 

properly discharging their responsibilities, and to review the annual report, the financial statements and 

the external accountants' report.  The Board of Directors takes this information into consideration when 

approving the financial statements for issuance to the partners.  The Board of Directors also consider 

the engagement of the external accountants.

The financial statements have been audited by Deloitte LLP in accordance with Canadian generally 

accepted auditing standards on behalf of the partnership.  Deloitte LLP has full access to the Board of 

Directors.

March 29, 2019

On behalf of the Board:

Lori Simcox, 

Director and Audit Committee Member

MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING

The 20-unit River’s Reach I Condominium



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To the Partners of Northern Vision Development Limited Partnership

Opinion 
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Northern Vision Development Limited Partnership 
(the “Partnership”), which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as at December 31, 2018, and the consolidated 
statements of income, partners’ equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated 
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies (collectively referred to as the 
“financial statements”). 
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial posi-
tion of the Partnership as at December 31, 2018, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the 
year then ended in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for private enterprises (“ASPE”). 

Basis for Opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards (“Canadian 
GAAS”). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for 
the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Partnership in accor-
dance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Canada, and 
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the 
audit evidence we have obtained is enough and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance 
with ASPE, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Partnership’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Partnership or to cease opera-
tions, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Partnership’s financial reporting process. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
 

accordance with Canadian GAAS will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reason-
ably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial state-
ments.

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian GAAS, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

 
 fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit  
 evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting  
 a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may  
 involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

  
 that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the  
 effectiveness of the Partnership’s internal control.  

 
 estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

  
 and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or  
 conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Partnership’s ability to continue as a going concern.  
 If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s  
 report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to  
 modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our  
 auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Partnership to cease to continue  
 as a going concern. 

 
 disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events  
  in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control 
that we identify during our audit. 
 

Chartered Professional Accountants
March 29, 2019
Langley, British Columbia
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Deloitte LLP
Suite 600, 8621 201 Street
Langley BC V7Y 0G9
Canada

Tel:  604-534-7477
Fax: 604-534-4220
www.deloitte.ca
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

Approved on behalf of the Board
  

Lori Simcox, 
Director and Audit Committee Member

 

Piers McDonald, 
Chairman of the Board of Directors, Acting Audit Committee Chair

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME
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As at December 31, 2018

ASSETS 
 Cash (Note 2)

 Accounts receivable (Note 10)

 Inventories 
 Loans receivable (Note 9)

 Property and equipment (Note 3)  
 Property under development (Note 2)

 Other (Note 5)

      
 Commitments (Note 13)

LIABILITIES & PARTNERS' EQUITY
 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Note 10)

 Customer deposits 
 Long term debt (Note 6)  

 Partners' equity (Note 12)

2018

 
  $              1,974,806 

1,356,846 
235,483 

1,303,811 
55,917,882 
12,722,910 

           714,984 
$            74,226,722 

  

$              2,508,843 
          209,360 

             33,098,542 
          35,816,745 

38,409,977 
 $            74,226,722 

2017

$           2,323,092
1,802,700

234,781
938,762

54,425,035
4,626,090

629,526
$         64,979,986

$           1,588,281
191,244

32,230,045
34,009,570
24,558,982

$         64,979,986

For the year ended December 31, 2018

Revenues 
 Hotels 
 Rentals (Note 10)

 Other
 Sale of properties held for sale
 
Direct expenses 
 Hotels 
 Rentals
 Other
 Cost of properties held for sale
 
Gross profit 

Expenses 
 Amortization 
 Interest (Note 10)

 Wages 
 Office
 Governance (Note 10)

 Marketing 
 Travel
 Professional fees 
 Provision for (recovery) of bad debts
 
Income from operations 

Other income 
 Gain on sale of property and equipment 
 Interest income (Notes 9 and 10)

 Lease termination payment
Net income

2018 

$              16,577,468  
         3,225,700 

441,560 
- 

       20,244,728 

         11,651,608 
               714,193 

320,865 
- 

       12,686,666 
         7,558,061 

                 
2,302,390 

                 1,384,651 
                 1,143,659 
                     164,024 
                     134,028 
                       66,426 
                       57,889 
                       38,771 
                     (28,287) 

         5,263,551 
         2,294,510 

            
413,456 

               104,906 
- 

$                2,812,872 

                       

2017 

 $             15,041,403 
         2,842,187 

444,157 
581,166 

       18,905,913 

         10,670,117 
               478,506 

321,923 
382,094 

       11,852,640 
              7,053,273 

         
1,963,229 

         1,276,789 
            1,063,106 

            140,717 
            199,245 

               58,807 
               54,953 
               33,210 
               55,916 
         4,845,972 
         2,207,301

            
157,782 

               72,806 
700,000 

$               3,137,889 
                       

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PARTNERS' EQUITY CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
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For the year ended December 31, 2018

Partners' equity, beginning of year

Units issued (Note 12)

Units redeemed (Note 12)

Issuance costs

Net income for the year

Partners’ equity, before distributions

Distribution to unitholders

Partners' equity, end of year

2018

              
$              30,970,416

7,575,119
(1,879,400)

(69,029)
2,812,872

39,407,977
(1,000,000)

$      38,409,977
 

2017

$              24,558,982

8,404,032

(2,547,112)

(83,375)

3,137,889

33,470,416

(2,500,000)

 $      30,970,416

For the year ended December 31, 2018

Cash flows from operating activities 

 Net income for the year 

 Add back 

  Amortization of financing fees 

  Amortization of other assets 

  Amortization of property and equipment 

  Non-cash revenues 

  Allowance for bad debts 

  Retention awards expensed

  Gain on sale of property and equipment

  Cost of properties sold

  

 Changes in non-cash working capital balances 

  Accounts payable and accrued labilities 

  Accounts receivable 

  Other assets 

  Inventories 

  Customer deposits 

  

Cash flows from investing activities 

 Loans receivable 

 Proceeds on sale of property 

 Purchase of property and equipment 

 Purchase of properties under development 

 Advance to Joint Venture

  

Cash flows from financing activities 

 Financing Fees paid, net 

 Advances of long-term debt 

 Units issued

 Units redeemed

 Issuance costs

 Distribution to unitholders 

 Advance to Joint Venture 

 Repayment of Debenture and short-term debt

 Repayment of long-term debt 

  

Net decrease (increase) in cash during year 
Cash, beginning of year 
Cash, end of year
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash transactions
 Non-cash proceeds from property sales 

 Vendor take-back loans receivable

2018

 $               2,812,872
 

                 33,900
                    7,297
            2,302,390

               - 
- 

244,520
             (413,456)

            = 
 4,987,523 

            676,042
            445,854
            (92,755)

                  (702)
               18,116

  6,034,077        

          (365,049)
         1,516,282
       (4,898,064)

     (8,273,213)
-

    (12,020,044)

         (102,458)
          3,488,668

                  7,575,119
       (1,879,400)
            (69,029)
       (1,000,000)
            198,483
            (22,000)
       (2,551,703)

 5,637,680                 
          (348,286)
          2,323,092

 $     1,974,806
 

$        450,000
 $        450,000

                       

2017

$            3,137,889

             

37,223

              14,954

        1,948,275

           (23,167)

55,916

            178,841

          (157,782)

            382,094

                5,574,243

             596,254

       (1,074,987)

        (37,695) 

            (59,563)

               22,595

                5,020,847

               448,332

             980,247

       (7,685,083)

          (811,070)

(85,880)

               (7,153,454)

               (11,920)

          1,999,930

8,404,032

       (2,547,112)

(83,375)

       (2,500,000)

- 

                          - 

       (1,794,260)

                  3,467,395     

          1,334,688

            988,404

 $             2,323,092

 $        233,454

 $        133,300

- 

        



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

NATURE OF OPERATIONS
Northern Vision Development Limited Partnership (the "Partnership") was formed as a limited partnership under the laws of Alberta 
on January 15, 2004 and was extra-provincially registered under the Partnership and Business Names Act of the Yukon Territory 
on March 22, 2004. The Partnership's principal business is the acquisition, development and sale of commercial, industrial and 
residential properties, and operation of hotels in the Yukon.

The Partnership consists of a general partner, Northern Vision Development Corp. (the “General Partner”), and a number of limited 
partners holding partnership units (collectively the “Partners”).

Pursuant to the terms of the Limited Partnership Agreement, the General Partner has unlimited liability for the debts and obligations 
of the Partnership. The liability of each Limited Partner is limited to the amount of capital contributed or agreed to be contributed, 
the Limited Partner's assumed share of the mortgage financing, and their share of undistributed income.

BASIS OF ACCOUNTING
These consolidated financial statements reflect only the assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses of the Partnership and, therefore, 
do not include any other assets, liabilities, revenues or expenses of the Partners or the liability of the Partners for income taxes on 
earnings of the Partnership. These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian accounting standards 
for private enterprises (“ASPE”).

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION
The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Partnership, its controlled subsidiaries and its propor-
tionate share of the assets, liabilities and operations of its joint venture interests. Control is achieved when the Partnership has the 
power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. All intercompany trans-
actions and balances are eliminated on consolidation. The financial statements of the Partnership’s subsidiaries are prepared using 
consistent accounting policies and the same reporting date as the Partnership. These consolidated financial statements include the 
accounts of the Partnership, 45978 Yukon Inc. and Iditarod Landscaping Inc. (wholly owned subsidiaries), the Partnership’s 50% 
interest in the Dawson Downtown Partnership and its joint venture interests.

NVENTORIES
Inventories consist of hotel supplies, which are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost is determined on a first in, 
first out basis. A provision is raised when it is believed that the costs incurred will not be recovered on the ultimate sale of the inventory.
 
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated amortization. Capitalized costs include all direct costs related to 
development, construction and upgrades, other than ordinary repairs and maintenance, carrying costs including interest on debt 
and property taxes during construction, and land acquisition costs. Amortization is provided using the following annual rates:

         Method    Rate

    Automotive     Declining balance basis   30%
    Buildings     Declining balance basis     4%
    Computer equipment      Declining balance basis   30%
    Computer software    Declining balance basis   30%
    Furniture and fixtures      Declining balance basis   20%
    Paving and landscaping      Declining balance basis     8%

IMPAIRMENT OF LONG-LIVED ASSETS
Long-lived assets consist of property and equipment, properties under development and properties held for sale. Long-lived assets 
are tested for recoverability whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that an asset’s carrying value might be 
impaired. An impairment loss is recognized when the asset’s carrying value exceeds the estimated future undiscounted cash flows 
from the asset’s use and eventual disposition. The amount of the impairment loss is determined as the excess of the carrying value 
of the asset over the fair value. Any impairment is included in income for the year.

 

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

INCOME TAXES
The Partnership is a limited partnership. As a result, the Partnership's earnings or losses for income tax purposes are included in 
the tax returns of the Partners. Accordingly, no recognition has been given to current or future income taxes in the accompanying 
consolidated financial statements of the Partnership. Net earnings for financial statement purposes may differ significantly from 
taxable income reportable to the Partners as a result of differences between the tax basis and financial reporting basis of assets 
and liabilities and the taxable income allocation requirements under the Partnership agreement. 

REVENUE RECOGNITION
Properties are rented to tenants pursuant to rental agreements, which provide for various rental terms with non-refundable rental 
payments. Revenue from rental agreements is recognized over the rental term as amounts become due and when collection is 
reasonably assured.

Revenue from the sale of real estate is recognized when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, amounts are fixed and deter-
minable, all material conditions of the sale have been fulfilled, collection is reasonably assured and title to the property has transferred.

Hotel revenue is recognized as services are provided and when collection is reasonably assured, and refundable tenant security 
deposits are recorded as a liability until repaid to the tenant.

USE OF ESTIMATES
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in accordance with ASPE requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date 
of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Areas requir-
ing significant management estimates relate to the determination of the recoverability of accounts and loans receivable, the fair 
market value and any potential impairments of property and equipment and property under development and held for sale, and the 
useful lives of property and equipment.  Actual results could differ from those estimates and may have an impact on future periods.

PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE
The Partnership classifies properties as held for sale when management approves and commits to a formal plan of sale and it does 
not believe it can utilize the lands for active development. Properties held for sale are carried at the lower of cost and net realizable 
value, with net realizable value being determined as the estimated selling price less estimated costs to sell.

PROPERTY UNDER DEVELOPMENT
The Partnership classifies properties under development as those that are or will be actively developed for the purposes of generat-
ing rental income or subsequent revenue from sales for the Partnership.

NON-MONETARY TRANSACTIONS
All non-monetary transactions are measured at fair value unless:

;
he transaction is an exchange of a product or property held for sale in the ordinary course of business for a product or

              property to be sold in the same line of business to facilitate sales to customer other than the parties to the exchange;

, non-reciprocal transfer to owners that represents a spin-off or other form of restruct-
              uring or liquidation.

A non-monetary transaction has commercial substance when the Partnership’s future cash flows are expected to change signifi-
cantly as a result of the transaction.

JOINTLY CONTROLLED ASSETS
Jointly controlled assets are investments which the Partnership has joint control with one or more unaffiliated entities. Jointly 
controlled assets are accounted for using the proportionate consolidation method as follows:

 the Partnership’s proportionate share of the assets and the liabilities of the jointly
 controlled assets;

 of operations includes the Partnership's proportionate share of the income and expenses of
 the jointly controlled asset; and

gains on transactions between the Partnership and its jointly controlled assets are eliminated to the extent of the Partnership's
              interest in the jointly controlled assets and losses are eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment
              of the asset.
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTERPRISES

The Partnership has elected to perform an analysis of its interest in each jointly controlled enterprise to determine whether it repre-
sents a right to the net assets or rights to the individual assets and obligations for the individual liabilities of jointly controlled enterprise. 

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Cash, accounts receivable, loans receivable, accounts payable, customer deposits, long-term debt are initially recorded at fair 
value and subsequently measured at amortized cost. Financing and transaction costs associated with long term debt are netted 
against the carrying value of the long-term debt and are amortized over the term of the financing using the straight-line method. 
Financial assets are recognized on the date the Partnership commits to purchase or sell the asset and derecognized when the 
Partnership no longer controls the contractual rights that comprise the financial instrument, which is normally the case when the 
instrument is sold, or all the risks and rewards of ownership have transferred 
to an independent third party.
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2. CASH

         2018                2017

    Restricted  $       329,603 $        130,244
    Unrestricted        1,645,203        2,192,848

       $    1,974,806 $     2,323,092

3. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

             2018   `         2017

         Cost Amortization   Net Book Value         Cost            Amortization  Net Book Value

Automotive              $       329,993    $     202,295     $       127,698      $     237,817     $      172,427    $        65,390 

Buildings      55,313,304    11,824,202      43,489,102      52,134,251      10,298,385         41,835,866

Computer equipment      
and software                      918,253          642,254           275,999             858,685            553,757            304,928

Furniture and fixtures       4,875,521       3,401,443        1,474,078         4,756,207         3,052,597          1,703,610

Land and improvements         9,752,449                       -        9,752,449         9,651,459           -         9,651,459 

Paving and landscaping         1,825,740       1,027,184           798,556           1,826,363            962,581              863,781 

                $  73,015,291    $ 17,097,377     $ 55.917,882      $ 69,464,782   $ 15,039,747    $ 54,425,035

During the year, the partnership recorded a gain of $413,456 (2017 - $157,783) from the sale of Plant, Property and Equipment.

4. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT
                         2018                    2017

Land and improvements                   $    4,387,748     $     4,262,090
Building and construction                  8,335,162               364.000

                     $  12,722,910     $     4,626,090

Properties under development consists of assets under active development or lands identified for development by the Partnship 
for sale to third parties. During year costs of $8,023,117 (2017 - $308,783), interest of $71,703 (2017 - $79,366) and salaries of 
$171,111 (2017 - $60,000) were capitalized.

5. OTHER ASSETS
                         2018                    2017

Prepaid expenses and deposits                                     $      386,722     $        301,601
Goodwill - Mighty Wash                        308,719               308,719
Other Assets                        19,493    19,206

                      $      714,984     $        629,526

6.   LONG TERM DEBT

As at December 31, 2018 there was $328,392 (2017 - $259,923) in deferred financing fees netted against long term debt. 

During the year, amortization of deferred financing fees amounted to $33,990 (2016 - $27,639), and $102,458 in new fees were 
incurred in the year (2017 - $11,920).

Loan payable to First Nations Bank - interest at 5.28%, due October 1, 2019, with 
monthly payments of principal and interest of $4,543 secured by a first mortgage on 
2193 and 2195 2nd Avenue, Whitehorse and a general assignment over rental income 
from the properties.

Loan payable to RBC - interest at 3.01%, due May 1, 2018, payable in equal install-
ments of $7,481 principal and interest, secured by a first mortgage on the property of 
9016 Quartz Road, Whitehorse.

Loans payable to RBC - interest at RBC’s prime rate plus 1%, due January 4, 2019, 
payable with monthly principal payments of $14,400 plus interest, secured by a first 
mortgage and assignment of rents from properties at 2237 2nd Avenue Whitehorse.

Loan payable to Yukon Housing Corporation - interest at 5%, due May 31, 2019 with 
annual interest payments of $67,473 secured by Lot 117, Whitehorse, YT 2014-0069.

Promissory Note payable to a society at 4%, due no later than October 31, 2019 with 
monthly payments of $9,307; secured by a second charge on property at 2237 2nd 
Avenue, Whitehorse.

Loan payable to Scotia Bank - interest at 3.04%, with fixed monthly repayments of 
$4,453 of principal and interest, due April 30, 2021 secured by a first mortgage and 
assignment of rents over two commercial units at 2237 2nd Avenue, Whitehorse.

Loan payable to BDC - interest at BDC's floating base rate less 1%, due March 23, 
2029, with monthly principal repayments of $5,000 secured by land and building on Lot 
2A, Block B 335, Plan 2007-0028.

Loan payable to BDC - interest at BDC's floating base rate less 1%, due June 23, 2032, 
with monthly principal repayments of $1,837 plus interest, secured by the following: 
first mortgage and assignment of rents on the Partnership's interest in the land and 
building at 166 & 170 Titanium Way, Whitehorse.
  

 

$        473,065           $       579,289 
  
          

                    -                  1,106,370  

       1,828,888                    2,487,679           
  
          
       1,520,094                  1,451,327 
  
       

            85,542                       190,379

           

           710,681                     739,806 
  
              

          619,596                     676,354

          446,513                     319,725
               
  
              

 2018            2017
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Balance brought forward

Loan payable to BDC -with fixed monthly repayments of $52,350 principal plus interest, 
at 4% due April 30, 2034 secured by a first mortgage over 3 hotel properties.
 
Loan payable to First Nations Bank – interest at 4.45% due October 31, 2020, with 
monthly principal repayments of $25,977 plus interest, secured by the following: first 
mortgage and assignment of rents on the partnership’s interest in the land and building 
at 4201 4th Avenue, Whitehorse.

Loan payable to Tr'ondek Hwech'in Trust - interest at 5%, due October 31, 2020, with 
annual principal payments of $35,709 plus interest due on June, July and August. 
Secured by a mortgage in property at 1026 Second Avenue, Dawson City.

Loan payable to BDC - interest at BDC's floating base rate less 1.0%, due May 23, 
2031, with monthly principal repayments of $5,000 plus interest, secured by the follow-
ing: first mortgage on 121 Copper Road; general assignment over property and equip-
ment on the property.

Loan payable to Scotia Bank - interest at 4.23%, with fixed monthly repayments of 
$1,389 of principal and interest, due July 31, 2022 secured by a first mortgage and 
assignment of rents over a commercial unit at 2237 2nd Avenue, Whitehorse.

Loan payable to BDC - interest at BDC's floating base rate less 1%, due December 
12th, 2043, with monthly principal repayments of $2,500 secured by: first mortgage and 
assignment of rents on Partnership's interest in the land and buildings at 4071 4th 
Avenue, Whitehorse.

Loan payable to RBC - interest at 4.54%, due May 1, 2021, payable in equal install-
ments of $7,875 principal and interest, secured by a first mortgage on the property of 
9016 Quartz Road, Whitehorse.

Loan payable to Scotiabank – interest at 4.22% with fixed monthly repayment of $4,825 
of principal plus interest, due June 30, 2023 secured by a first mortgage and assign-
ment of rents over 212 Main Street, Whitehorse, YT.

               Total

               
$    5,684,379              $   7,550,929 
  

    13,551,040              14,458,952 
    

      5,242,047               5,548,919
              

         312,430                      329,473 
  
        

         341,288                      368,773

         240,874                      247,968

         736,482                            -

      1,275,843                            -

      2,214,844                            -
  
$  33,098,542              $ 32,230,045 
  

    

        

6.   LONG TERM DEBT (continued)

     2018          2017

The BDC floating base rate at December 31, 2018 was 6.05% (2017 – 5.3%). RBC and First Nations bank prime rate at year end 
was 3.7% (2017- 3.2%). 

Principal repayments on long term debt due over the next five years and thereafter are as follows:

     2019      $       5,681,205
     2020                      6,400,768
     2021              1,461,351
     2022              1,461,351
     2023              1,428,276
     Thereafter           16,993,977
               $    33,426,934

The Partnership’s debt agreements contain financial covenants which require minimum levels of tangible equity, debt service 
coverage, limitations on borrowings, and limitations on the use of proceeds of asset sales. The Partnership was in compliance with 
all its financial covenants as at December 31, 2018.
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7.  OPERATING LINE OF CREDIT 

The Partnership has available an operating line of credit with a maximum authorized limit of $550,000 of which $181,500 was 
pledged at December 31, 2018 (2017 - $nil). The line of credit bears interest at the bank prime rate plus 1.0% per annum and is 
secured by a mortgage over certain of the Partnership’s properties.

8. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT

CREDIT RISK
The Partnership is exposed to credit risk resulting from the possibility that a customer, tenant or counterparty to a financial instru-
ment defaults on their financial obligations; if there is a concentration of transactions carried out with the same counterparty; or if 
financial obligations which have similar economic characteristics such that they could be similarly affected by changes in economic 
conditions. The Partnership’s financial instruments that are exposed to concentrations of credit risk relate primarily to accounts and 
loans receivable. To mitigate the credit risk, the Partnership has accounts receivable widely distributed among its customer base, 
performs regular credit assessments of its customers, obtains advance deposits or with respect to loans receivable, takes a secu-
rity interest in the property sold or the tenant’s assets or personal guarantees. The Partnership therefore believes that there is 
acceptable credit risk associated with the collection of its accounts or loans receivable. The Partnership has recorded an allowance 
of $nil (2017 - $55,916) in respect of accounts receivable where collection is doubtful.

INTEREST RATE RISK
Interest rate risk is the risk that future cash flows associated with a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market 
interest rates. Changes in market interest rates may influence the cash flows associated with some financial assets and liabilities, 
known as cash flow risk, and on the fair value of other financial assets or liabilities, known as price risk. The Partnership is exposed 
to interest rate risk with respect to its short-term financial instruments all of which are expected to be realized within one to two 
years. As described in note 6, a portion of the Partnership’s long-term debt bears interest at floating rates. Fluctuations in these 
rates will impact the cost of financing incurred and cash flows available in the future.

LIQUIDITY RISK
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Partnership will not be able to meet its obligations as they fall due. The Partnership monitors its 
liquidity on a regular basis and will draw on existing credit facilities or obtain new financing as necessary to fund shortfalls.

9.  LOANS RECEIVABLE

                         2018                            
Loans receivable (Note 11)                  $       447,838       $       569,403
Mortgages receivable                        678,407   272,515
Advances to joint ventures (Note 11)                      177,566     96,845
                     $    1,303,811       $       938,763

(I)  LOANS RECEIVABLE
Loans receivable represent advances to or on behalf of commercial tenants for the purpose of completing leasehold improvements 
on properties owned by the Partnership. The terms of the loans do not exceed 15 years, with interest rates ranging from 1% to 9%. 

the loan’s receivable occurs if the borrower defaults on repayment of the loan. Therefore, the carrying value of the loans receivable 
balance represents the Partnership's exposure to the related credit risk without considering any rent that may be outstanding and 
the remaining term of the commercial lease or any collateral or any other credit security. The balance of loans receivable includes 
a provision for impairment of $nil ($2017 - $127,925).

(II)  MORTGAGES RECEIVABLE
Mortgages receivable represent vendor take back loans made to purchasers of properties sold by the Partnership. In all cases, 
security is provided by the underlying property. Interest is charged at rates ranging between 5% and 7% per annum. The total 
interest earned on the loans in the year was $32,312 (2017 - $5,014). The exposure to the credit risk associated with the mortgage’s 
receivable occurs if the borrower’s defaults on repayment of the mortgage. Therefore, the carrying value of the mortgage receivable 
balance represents the Partnership's maximum exposure to the related credit risk without considering any collateral or any other 
credit enhancements. There were no impairment provisions recorded on the mortgage’s receivable as at December 31, 2018. 

2017



9. LOANS RECEIVABLE (continued)

(III) ADVANCES TO JOINT VENTURES
Advances to Joint Ventures are made to assist working capital requirements and represent advances made in excess of the 
Partnership’s proportionate share in the jointly controlled assets. Interest is charged at 5% per annum when the other joint venturer 
does not contribute their proportionate share. The total interest collected in the year was $11,973 (2017 - $11,780).

10. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES

During the year, the Partnership had the following transactions with parties that were either partners, employees or companies 
controlled by partners or employees of the Partnership:
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      2018            2017

PAID:
Financing charges and interest paid to various investors in which the Partnership has 
proportionate interests

Fees paid to Directors of the Partnership

Rents paid to joint ventures in which the Partnership had an existing proportionate interest

Other fees - consists of miscellaneous and contractor payments paid to employees, 
partners or companies controlled by employees of the Partnership

RECEIVED OR RECOVERY FROM:
Rent received from a company controlled by an employee of the Partnership and a joint 
venture in which the Partnership has a proportionate interest

Interest received from a company controlled by an employee of the Partnership on a 
short-term loan and loans to employees and joint ventures

Other fees - consists of miscellaneous payments received for services and reimburse-
ments for recoveries from joint ventures in which the Partnership has proportionate 
interests and related companies

LOANS:
Short-term loans due to unitholders of the Partnership
Loans advanced to Employees of the Partnership 

                        

  $       12,187 

         134,028         
             7,664 

           31,283

  $     185,162

  $       51,876  

 
           26,874 

        
           46,630 

  $     125,380

         116,045 
         317,171

                        

  $       18,149      

         185,773        
           86,832 

           41,879

  $     332,633

  $       61,509  
          
           15,031 

        
           42,732 

  $     332,633

         336,110 
         158,300

The related party transactions occurred in the normal course of operations and are measured at the exchange value, which is the 
amount of consideration established and agreed to by the related parties.
As at December 31, 2017, the Partnership had the following amounts recorded in accounts receivable and accounts payable and 
accrued liabilities:

 

11. SEGMENTS
 
As at December 31, 2018, the Partnership had four reportable segments: hotels, rentals, property held for sale and property under 
development. Hotel operations consist of room rental and food and beverage services. Rental properties consist of commercial 
and residential properties held under long term lease. Property held for sale consists of residential properties and commercial lots 
that were publicly available for sale. Property under development consists of lands and buildings under construction or held for 
future development.

11. SEGMENTS (continued)

2018
         Property                  Property
        Hotels                 Rentals            Held For Sale         Development        Other        Total 

Revenue          $  16,577,468       $    3,225,700      $             -       $              -      $       441,560      $  20,244,728 
Amortization                        955,956             1,248,570              -                            -    97,864            2,302,390 
Interest income               -                            -             -                            -               106,906               106,906 
Interest expense                              632,070                719,697              -                            -     32,631           1,384,398 
Net income (loss)                           3,337,834                543,239              -                            -           (1,070,291)           2,810,782 
Properties and equipment           19,011,552           35,549,357              -            12,722,910               307,518         

2017
         Property                  Property
        Hotels                 Rentals            Held For Sale         Development        Other        Total 
 
Revenue         $  15,041,403        $   2,842,187          $    581,166      $              -       $  441,157      $  18,905,914
Amortization                 791,822             1,093,682                           -                           -     77,725            1,963,229
Interest income               -                           -                            -              -    72,806                 72,806
Interest expense                 588,424                645,058                            -              -    43,307             1,276,789
Net income (loss)                           2,991,040                624,941                 199,072              -             (677,164)            3,137,889
Properties and equipment            18,834,771          35,353,804              -             4,626,090  236,459           59,051,124

12. PARTNERS’ EQUITY

At December 31, 2018 there are 26,317,396 partnership units outstanding (2017 – 23,965,715). During the year 3,132,491 units 
were issued for proceeds of $7,575,119 and 780,801 units were redeemed for $1,879,400 (2017 2,674,281 units issued for cash 
proceeds of $8,404,032 and 1,212,985 units redeemed for $2,547,112.

13. COMMITMENTS

The partnership has commitment to make monthly payments to a tenant under the terms of a lease agreement. Payments required 
under the terms of the agreement are as follows:

     2019         $    200,000
     2020    150,000
     2021    100,000
     2022    100,000
     2023        50,000

14. CHANGE IN PRESENTATION OF COMPARATIVE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the current year’s presentation. 

15. JOINTLY HELD ASSETS AND JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTERPRISES

Name               Interest  Activity           Inception

TW Selkirk Joint Venture                    49%  Lease of commercial properties                2011
Northern Carcross Joint Venture                   50%  Lease of commercial property                2013
Dawson Downtown Hotel                    50%  Hotel Operations                  2013

The Partnership’s proportionate share of the assets and liabilities, revenues and expenses of the various operations are included in 
these consolidated financial statements are as follows. The Partnership is liable for the liabilities of the jointly held assets to the 
extent of its proportionate share in each operation. Certain of the comparative figures have been reclassified to conform with the 
method of presentation adopted in the current year.

67,591,337
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Assets

Cash

Accounts receivable

Prepaid expenses

Inventory

Property and equipment

Organization costs

Liabilities and Equity

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

Government remittances

Net income 

Long term debt

Equity

INCOME STATEMENT

Revenues 

Hotels 

Rentals 

Gains 

Expenses 

Hotels 

Amortization 

Property 

Interest 

Expenses 

Net income 

Supplemental

Cash flows from operating activities 

Cash flows from investing activities 

Cash flows from financing activities 

       

$  141,150 

                             - 

    20,231 

                   34,724 

$                     196,105

                    2,126,231 

        125 

                    2,322,461 

$   58,935 

   20,573 

   79,508 

            941,250

         1,020,758

         1,301,703

$                  2,322,461

      2018

$                 1,591,768 

   98,846 

                        73,668 

$                 1,764,282 

                   1.399,945 

                      109,853 

                      115,630 

                        30,909 

                   1,656,337 

$                    107,945 

      

      2018

$            332,891 

$            (77,815) 

$            160,194

      

$                    163,967 

                        37,182 

                        13,885 

                        34,410 

$                    249,390

                   1,956,075 

                             125 

                   2,205,590 

$                      58,137 

             29,589 

   87,726 

           649,197

           736,923

        1,468,667

$                 2,205,590

      2017

$                 1,393,423 

                        91,746 

                        65,266 

$                 1,550,434 

                  

        1,336,292 

                      101,602 

                        35,920 

                        28,494 

                   1,502,307 

$                      48,127 

      2017

$                      77,763 

$                    283,222 

$                    (98,628)

2018    2017
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15. JOINTLY HELD ASSETS AND JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTERPRISES (continued)

“Building an entity like NVD in Northern Canada has 

sometimes been challenging. However our Partnership 

has been aided by engaged  investors, a supportive 

community, capable governments at all levels,  and an 

incredibly dedicated group of individuals on our staff 

and board. The result is an operation that can do important 

work, while having a positive impact on the community 

and providing returns to those who have support us.

We thank you all.”
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“Northern Vision Development... 
embarking on significant growth”
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

GENERAL PARTNER – NORTHERN VISION DEVELOPMENT CORP.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS      HEAD OFFICE

Shirley Adamson       Suite 209, 212 Main Street
Hannes Kovac       Whitehorse, YT
Ian McAuley         Y1A 2B1
Hon. Piers McDonald, Chairman     Phone: 867-668-7886  
Robert Savin        Fax: 867-668-7851
Lori Simcox        www.nvdlp.com    

 1  Denotes member of the Audit Committee    
 2  Denotes member of the Development Committee
 3  Denotes member of the Hotel Committee 
 4  Denotes member of the Governance and Compensation Committee

MANAGEMENT       CALGARY OFFICE

Richard Thompson, CEO      Suite 500, 5119 Elbow Drive S.W.
Philip Fitzgerald, CFO      Calgary, AB 
Denny Kobayashi, President Real Estate Sales   T2V 1H2
Kristine Hildebrand, V.P. Asset Management   Phone: 403-660-0073
Dylan Soo, General Manager Hotels Division    
Adam Gerle, V.P Marketing     Legal Counsel 
           Manager, Downtown Hotel    Bennett Jones
Alexis Brandt, Director Human Resources   Calgary, AB
Taylor Zeeg, VP Business Development   
Rudy Colasanzio, Director Maintenance    Lamarche and Lang 
Jerome Casanova, Senior Property Manager   Whitehorse, YT
        
         Auditors
         Deloitte LLP
         Langley, B.C. 
      

Letter from Canadian Country Hall of Famer Brett Kissel 

after his concert in Dawson City. NVD invited Brett to the 

Klondike to play a sold out show at the historic Palace 

Grand Theatre  - which he went on to say was the hight-

light of his CanadianTour.
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